
 
Mission Statement:  To encourage sound economic and community improvement that enhances the overall quality of 
life in Post Falls by:  providing and improving infrastructure, attracting jobs, and enhancing citizen safety and health. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Amended Agenda 
 

1. Call to Order, Commissioner Roll Call and Pledge of Allegiance 
 

2. Ceremonies, Appointments and Announcements 
 

3. Conflict Disclosure 
 

4. Consent Calendar   ACTION ITEMS 
a. Commission Minutes, September 19, 2024 
b. Commission Workshop Minutes, September 19, 2024 
c. Communication, Property & Personnel Committee Minutes, September 26, 2024 
d. Payables   
e. Bank Activity Report 
f. Financial Reports  

 
5. Committee Updates 

a. Finance and Policy – Crosby 
b. District Review - Coles 
c. Communications, Property & Personnel - Hjeltness 

 
6. Citizen Comments 

This section of the agenda is reserved for citizens wishing to address the Commission regarding an Agency 
related issue.  Comments related to future public hearings should be held for that public hearing.  Persons 
wishing to speak will have 5 minutes. 
 

7. Unfinished Business 
a. 4th Addendum to Agency Policy #7 – Minor Projects Program ACTION ITEM 
b. Public Representation Materials & Information 

 
8. New Business 

a. Internet Service Provider Agreement ACTION ITEM 
 

9. Staff Report and Updates 
 

10. Commissioner Comments 
 

11. Chairman Comments 
 

12. Adjournment 

 

 

 

Requests for accommodation of special needs to participate in the meeting should be addressed to the Office of  

the Executive Director, 201 E. 4th Avenue, Post Falls, Idaho 83854, or call (208) 777-8151. 

 

Post Falls Urban Renewal Agency 
October 17, 2024 Meeting 

9:00 am, Post Falls City Hall 

tel:%28208%29%20777-8151


POST FALLS URBAN RENEWAL MINUTES 

September 19, 2024 

 

CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Chairman Jamè Davis called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m.  Executive Director Joseph Johns called the 
roll.  Present, in addition to Davis were Commissioners Eric Clemensen, Pat Leffel, Collin Coles, Len Crosby 
and Melissa Hjeltness. Commissioner Christi Fleischman was absent.  Counselor Pete Bredeson was also 
present. Coles led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
CEREMONIES, APPOINTMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

None 
 
CONFLICT DISCLOSURE 

None 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR 

Johns introduced the Consent Calendar.  Item A in the Consent Calendar is the Commission Meeting 
Minutes, August 15, 2024 
 
Item B is the District Review Meeting Minutes, September 4, 2024 
 
Item C is the payables for this month totaling $11,615.45  
 
Item D is the Bank Activity Report which shows total funds in all accounts of $2,954,877.53 and accrued 
interest for the month of $7,981.65 
 
Item E is the financial reports as of August 31, 2024. 
 
Item F is the FY2025 Legal Services Contract. 
 
Approval of the consent calendar will authorize a transfer of $11,615.45 to the First Interstate Checking 
Account for the monthly payables and $7,981.65 accrued interest to the General Fund 
 
Commissioner Crosby made a motion to approve the Consent Calendar as presented, seconded by Coles. Roll 
Call Vote:  Clemensen – Aye; Hjeltness – Aye; Crosby – Aye; Leffel - Aye; Davis – Aye; Coles – Aye. Motion 
carried. 
 
COMMITTEE UPDATES 

Finance & Policy – Crosby – Commissioner Clemensen reviewed the monthly financial reports.  
 
District Review – Coles – A District Review meeting was held September 4th, the meeting minutes are part of 
consent calendar. 
 
Communication, Property and Personnel – Hjeltness – Nothing to report.  
 
CITIZEN COMMENTS 

None 



UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

None 

 
NEW BUSINESS 

None 
 
STAFF REPORT 

Johns reported The Prairie Crossing commercial development in the PF Tech District is moving forward 

with continued installation of frontage improvements and preparations for the construction of Trade 

Avenue and Zorros Road. A call was received from a representative of the property to the east of Zorros 

Road making inquiries about the width of Zorros Road and the design of the road. Information available 

through public records was provided.  

On August 28th a second meeting with representatives of A&A Construction occurred for the purpose of 

discussing the Minor Projects Program. An analysis of the fiscal impact to their projected reimbursement 

timeline was provided, should they be willing to amend the current Owner Participation Agreement 

between A&A Construction and the Agency. 

The Agency office recently experienced a variety of unanticipated IT related issues due to a change of 

the Chamber of Commerce’s local IT support provider, resulting in changes to the buildings internal 

network & internet service provider. Any changes to Agency operations and processes as a result of this 

IT issue with the Chamber, including impact to our FY25 budget, will be documented and presented to 

the Finance & Policy Committee and the Communications, Property and Personnel Committee. Minimal 

impact to the FY2025 Operating Budget is expected due to internet service costs and a change of the IT 

services provider.  

A second inquiry was received from the Post Falls Eagles seeking potential tax increment funding 
support for their remodeling project requiring frontage and alley improvements. A Project Questionnaire 
was provided to their representative. Johns informed them that the Agency is currently in the process of 
developing the Minor Projects Program, but that it is a work in progress at this time.   
 
Commissioner Crosby asked Johns if any response had been received from A&A Construction. Johns stated 
there has not been a response received. Crosby suggested Johns contact them to see if they intend to 
provide a response. Crosby reported that the meeting with A&A Construction went well and it was possible to 
show them the Minor Project Program would a small impact on their reimbursement if they were to agree to 
an amendment to the OPA. Crosby also asked Johns if the Eagles indicated how much funding assistance 
they are looking for. Johns responded that the representative was uncertain about the amount they would 
be seeking but that their total project cost was approximately $175,000. 

 
COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 

No additional comments or questions. 
 
CHAIRMAN COMMENT 

None 
 

  



ADJOURNMENT 

Davis asked for a motion to adjourn.  Commissioner Crosby made the motion, seconded by Hjeltness.  All in 
favor by voice vote.  Meeting was adjourned at 9:09 am. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
 
              
Joseph Johns, Executive Director   Jamé Davis, Chairman 



POST FALLS URBAN RENEWAL MINUTES 

Workshop Minutes 

 

September 19, 2024 – Chamber of Commerce – Board Room 

 

CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL 

 

Chairman Jamè Davis called the meeting to order at 9:20 a.m.  Executive Director Joseph Johns called the 
roll.  Present, in addition to Davis were Commissioners Collin Coles, Eric Clemensen, Melissa Hjeltness, Len 
Crosby, and Pat Leffel. Commissioner Fleischman was absent. Counselor Pete Bredeson was also present. 
 

CONFLICT DISCLOSURE 

None 

 
CITIZEN COMMENT 
None 
 
MINOR PROJECTS PROGRAM.  Executive Director Johns informed the Commission of the process by which 
the Minor Projects Program documentation was initially drafted and subsequently reviewed/revised by both 
Johns and Counselor Bredeson. Crosby asked Bredeson if agency policy was amended to include the Minor 
Projects Program, could the district plan for any new district include the language, “such minor projects as 
may come to the attention of the Commission and are determined by the Commission to be in keeping with 
the guidelines and objectives of the district”? Bredeson stated he thought it would be fine as long as projects 
met the district plan objectives. Crosby provided an overview of the August 28, 2024, meeting with 
representatives of A&A Construction about the Minor Project Program guidelines and the potential of 
implementing it in the Downtown District. At the meeting Johns provided an impact analysis to the 
reimbursement of A&A Construction in the Downtown District should they agree to an amendment of the 
current OPA. Commissioner Coles would prefer the use of “ancillary projects” or something other than “minor 
projects” for the program name since such projects could lend toward the completion of major projects 
contained in a district plan. Additionally, the specification of business types, particularly non-profits, should 
not be contained in the program guidelines according to Coles. Commissioner Davis responded the intent is to 
prevent any existing business from being left out. Among the business community there is a perspective that 
urban renewal funds only go to benefit new businesses. Crosby added that the proposed program facilitates 
an expansion of existing districts to benefit existing businesses and it isn’t intended to attract new employers 
into a district. Commissioner Clemensen asked if the program could be characterized as a means to fund 
unfunded mandates. Coles confirmed and commented further the program addresses projects having nothing 
to do directly with jobs. It could provide for filling in infrastructure gaps or complete a missing link of existing 
infrastructure. Crosby noted prior processes of addressing, with the City, projects beneficial to the community 
toward the end of a district’s life, such as the roundabouts constructed by the City when the East Post Falls 
District came to a close. Coles would like addressing such projects during the formation of a district. These 
projects could be identified by the City and a percentage of the anticipated increment revenue covering their 
estimated cost could be withheld up front and put into a fund for the projects. Crosby responded that while 
it’s possible for the City to identify projects to be put into a plan, it’s not possible to know projects clearly 
enough twenty years ahead of time. Coles stated the City knows what needs to get done, but whether it gets 
done or not is the issue. There needs to be a means to set funds aside for fill-in projects which is what the 
whole concept should be. Crosby believes that is already built into the program as it is. Bredeson added that 
“minor projects” is a pretty open, general term which is why he created it, used it. Crosby clarified that the 
current proposed program has a project limit of $250,000 which is defensible while allowing urban renewal to 
help existing businesses. Davis agreed that the name Minor Projects provides a good description. Clemensen 
asked whether the amount set aside is to be $250K per year, for the life of the district, or per project? Crosby 



responded that in the meeting with A&A Construction it was explained that a limit of $250K would come out 
with future proponent/participants, but that their OPA couldn’t be amended without their consent. Johns 
clarified that fifteen percent of the annual increment tax received would go into the minor projects fund with 
the fund having a cap of $250K. In years when the fund held $250K, and no minor projects are being funded, 
all the incoming increment tax received would go toward reimbursement of the existing obligations to 
proponent/developers. This concept was viewed favorably by A&A Construction. Johns described an impact 
analysis presented to A&A Construction at the meeting. Their full reimbursement is estimated to be prolonged 
by one-year if the Minor Project Program is implemented and they are willing to amend the current OPA to 
begin the allocation of increment tax to the fund in the Downtown District. Clemensen asked if a program 
participant would have to accept delayed reimbursement if the fund balance was insufficient to provide full 
reimbursement initially. Crosby replied that a participant could go to their lender for a short-term loan with a 
commitment for reimbursement from urban renewal. Crosby clarified that the program requires applicants to 
provide cost estimates and owner/landlord consent if the property is leased. Reimbursement consideration 
will require documentation of actual costs, completion of the project, and acceptance from the City. Bredeson 
has prepared a draft Minor Project Reimbursement Agreement which spells out the requirements for 
reimbursement and will be legally binding. Coles voiced a desire to spend more time clarifying details of the 
program. Crosby asked Commissioner Hjeltness her opinion from a real estate perspective. Hjeltness stated 
she sees it helping, “the little guy”, and agrees with it. It has the potential to improve the appearance of 
property, including the completion of missing sidewalks. Coles voiced concern the program is limited to 
commercial participants when a need exists to complete things like sidewalks located other areas yet are in 
the district plan. Clemensen asked if citizens went to the City and requested improvements that meet district 
plan criteria, like sidewalks, could they be funded. Coles responded the City could do it and seek 
reimbursement. Crosby responded that if something is in the district plan, we can do it. Davis noted that it 
would fall under the regular reimbursement process. Crosby added that if the City wants to do something 
they can do it and get reimbursement from urban renewal, just like stop lights, etc. Coles would like the City 
to approve, or vet, all such projects and leave reimbursement as the only consideration by urban renewal. He 
would also prefer the program parameters on façade improvements be changed or removed since it’s a 
matter of opinion, like public art. Hjeltness voiced support of projects utilizing concrete or brick as they are 
more timeless and improve the appearance of the community more than other materials. Bredeson clarified 
that the program language states, “façade related improvements that promote district plan objectives and are 
authorized by the plan” which is not completely subjective. Coles added that the district plan doesn’t contain 
much detail regarding facades. Bredeson noted the district plan contains general objectives and program 
projects would have to analyzed for whether they met them. Crosby asked for clarification about whether a 
motion was needed to adopt the program. Coles responded it needs more work. Bredeson recommended that 
it be considered as an addendum to Policy #7 instead of as a separate draft document. Crosby asked if 
Bredeson would redraft the Minor Projects Program guidelines as a policy addendum for presentation and 
consideration at a future meeting. Bredeson agreed and stated it could be ready next month. Davis asked for 
a motion to have the program added to Policy #7. Commissioner Crosby made a motion to adopt the 
program as part of Policy #7, seconded by Clemensen. Roll Call Vote: Leffel – Aye; Coles – Nay; Crosby – 
Aye; Hjeltness – Aye; Clemensen – Aye; Davis – Aye. Motion carried. 
 
 
URBAN RENEWAL TOPICS FOR JOINT WORKSHOP WITH CITY. Commissioner Crosby recommended 
getting ideas and direction from the City Council on creating a new district, possibly two. Commissioner Coles 
agreed, and would like the meetings to include more substantive discussion. Commissioner Davis noted that 
the subject of a new district was on the previous joint workshop agenda. Executive Director Johns stated 
members of the City Council spoke favorably toward the idea of a new district, but not in specific terms. City 
staff is also very favorable of a new district. Crosby also recommended the subject of Public Art. He would like 
the City to have a Public Art Commission and take it off the table of urban renewal. Coles agreed. Crosby 
believes the City has room to grow public art but it needs to be something the City does, likely through a 
commission. Davis described serving previously on a public art committee which could possibly be 



reestablished. It may have been something the Mayor put together and the structure for it might already 
exist. Hjeltness would also like to remove public art out of consideration by urban renewal. Johns clarified the 
Downtown URD Plan includes public art so it will likely remain an urban renewal topic until the district closes 
in 2041. Davis said it is a matter of who’s approving the art. Clemensen and Coles would like public art to not 
be a part of future districts. Coles believes a new district along East Seltice Avenue has good potential but 
working out the details could be difficult. Crosby agreed. Coles would like to see the Pleasant View District 
closed and started again someday if things can come together. The time passed since its formation without 
development may be too much to overcome. Clemensen asked Johns if the City was continuing to seek grant 
opportunities that would benefit the Pleasant View District. Johns will check with the City. Crosby suggested 
Johns meet with the City Administrator to discuss potential workshop topics. Hjeltness suggested annexation 
of property into the City for a URD along East Seltice could be problematic. Coles believes it may be possible 
for the City to incentivize annexation and closing Pleasant View could provide a basis for opening a new URD. 
Hjeltness excused herself from the workshop at 10:07am. Johns will put together a list of workshop topics to 
propose to the City. Crosby recommended that Chairman Davis join Johns in a meeting with the City about 
the joint workshop topics and how to facilitate the most productive use of the time.  
 

COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
 
No additional comments 
 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
The workshop was adjourned at 10:13 a.m. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

              

Joseph Johns, Executive Director   Jamè Davis, Chairman 



POST FALLS URBAN RENEWAL 
Communication, Property & Personnel Committee 
 
September 26, 2024 – Chamber of Commerce – Conference Room 
 
CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL  
 
Chairman Melissa Hjeltness called the meeting to order at 9:02 a.m.  Present in addition to Hjeltness 
were Commissioner Pat Leffel, Commissioner Christi Fleischman and Executive Director Joseph Johns.  
 
CONFLICT DISCLOSURE 

None 
 
CITIZEN COMMENT 

None 

Office IT Systems & Equipment Update. Executive Director Johns updated the committee on changes 
to the IT/Network support provider and internet service provider by the Chamber of Commerce. The 
changes required a few unanticipated adjustments to the Agency’s operations. The Agency’s office 
lease specifies the use the same service provider as the Chamber. IT/Network support will be provided 
by Northwest Specialty IT Solutions. The provider of internet services will be InterMax Networks. A 
quote has been received from NW Specialty for the equipment and service necessary to set the Agency 
up with its own secure network separate from other networks in the building. The Agency’s FY25 
budgeted operating expenses, approved in August 2024, do not include these unanticipated expenses. 
Additionally, Johns informed the committee that Canon Solutions recently declared the office’s 
ImageRunner C5030 copier/scanner/printer unserviceable due to age and lack of available parts. The 
equipment was initially leased and received, as “refurbished”, in September 2014. The Canon 
representative recommended replacement with a 3900 series model which provides all the previously 
available functionality and is eligible for a service/use contract. This will be considered during the 
FY2026 budgeting process. The Agency also possesses a Dell C2665dnf multi-function 
printer/scanner/copier machine, acquired in 2014, used primarily for the printing of color documents.  

Public Outreach Materials. Draft versions of a refreshed PFURA logo and tri-fold brochure/handout, 
contributed by Commissioner Fleischman, were presented to the committee. Committee discussion 
provided input for further possible variations of the logo. The redesigned tri-fold brochure provides an 
opportunity to include more information than the prior handout. Professional quality printing is 
available locally and inexpensively in small batches as needed. The proposed “cover” image is iconic for 
the community and is free to use according to Fleischman. Johns reported having looked through all of 
the urban renewal project images on file in the Agency records and could not find anything more 
suitable for use. Layout of the brochure content was viewed favorably by committee members. Johns 
will review the details of the content and provide Fleischman with the information necessary to present 
a complete draft document at the October Commission Meeting. The “cover” of the brochure was 
designed for dual use as a x-frame banner. Johns proposed the development of an additional handout, 
or graphic, that depicts the various public infrastructure items commonly funded by urban renewal but 
rarely seen (water lines, wastewater, stormwater, etc.). Fleischman proposed utilizing the services of a 
graphic designer who could easily create the desired image based on examples provided. Johns would 
like to have all the materials available by the end of the calendar year or earlier. He is scheduled to 
provide a presentation at the Chamber of Commerce’s Lunch & Learn in February 2025. If possible, 
he’d like to conduct a short survey as part of the presentation to garner feedback from the business 
community. Fleischman voiced that the survey could also be designed to inform the participants about 
urban renewal. Fleischman and Hjeltness recommended utilizing available technology that allows 



participants to use their phones and provide feedback in real-time. Hjeltness will provide Johns with 
information about a survey tool used regularly at other meetings she attends.  

Project Questionnaire Update. Johns provided an overview of layout changes and several revisions to 
the Agency’s existing Project Questionnaire document. He has added a question to identify the 
applicant’s intent to seek project funding through the Minor Projects Program or standard increment 
tax funding. Committee discussion identified several additional revisions that could provide applicants 
with more guided/directed response options. 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

Meeting was adjourned @ 10:11 a.m. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 

              
Joseph Johns, Executive Director    Melissa Hjeltness, Chairman 



















FOURTH ADDENDUM TO AGENCY POLICY #7 – 1 

POST FALLS URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY 

FOURTH ADDENDUM TO AGENCY POLICY #7 

 

Subject:  Fourth Addendum to Agency Policy #7 

Effective Date:  October 17th, 2024 

Background: On July 10th, 2024, the Commission of the Post Falls Urban Renewal Agency approved 

amendments to Agency Policy #7 to provide for priority reimbursement of public improvements 

associated with certain minor projects that promote the objectives set forth in an Urban Renewal Plan and 

are authorized by such Plan. The purpose of this Addendum is to provide specificity regarding how the 

minor project program will be implemented. This Addendum shall apply to all Urban Renewal Districts. 

1. FUNDING:  An annual allocation of a portion (not to exceed 15% per year) of the annual 

allocation of tax increment accruing to an urban renewal district. 

2. THE PROGRAM IS TO BE RESTRICTED TO: 

a. Existing businesses which have a physical facility located within the District which they 

wish to expand or improve.  

i. In the case of an existing business which occupies leased premises within the 

District, the landlord must be a co-applicant and the lease term must have a 

remaining term of not less than three (3) years. 

b. Existing Non-Profits which have a physical facility located within the District which they 

own and which they wish to improve or expand. 

3. PROGRAM PARAMETERS: 

a. Funds shall be restricted to physical improvements which are: 

i. City required improvements that promote District Plan objectives and are 

authorized by such Plan, including property frontage improvements (curbing, 

gutters, sidewalks, grassy swales, street trees, storm water abatement), public 

sewer and water extensions and landscaping elements. 

ii. Façade or related improvements that promote District Plan objectives and are 

authorized by such Plan, as determined by a quorum majority of the Urban 

Renewal Commission in consultation with the City Community Development 

Director. 

b. Funding is limited to a maximum funding of $250,000 per applicant. 

c. The Urban Renewal Commission shall estimate the real property valuation impact of the 

proposed improvements, and perform an analysis of the potential increase in tax 

increment anticipated from the proposed improvement(s) for the remaining duration of 

the urban renewal district in which the property is located (Not required for Non-Profit 

enterprises operating on tax exempt real property).  

 



FOURTH ADDENDUM TO AGENCY POLICY #7 – 2 

d. The Urban Renewal Commission shall assess each project’s impact as it relates to 

increased employment, enhanced appearance, contribution to the objectives of the 

District Plan and related factors. 

e. Applicant must provide a written contract for construction of the proposed improvements, 

verification of City approval of the proposed improvements, construction plans and 

related documents, including the specific contract price for the items that the 

Commission’s Minor Project Program are to fund. 

f. Reimbursement from the Commission’s District tax increment funds shall be subject to 

execution by the Applicant of a Minor Project Reimbursement Agreement, the 

completion of funded work, documented acceptance of the completed improvements by 

the City, documentation of the actual costs of the improvements, review of the actual 

costs by the Commission’s engineering consultants and the approval of an Order of 

Approval by the Urban Renewal Commission in accordance with Commission policy.  

Reimbursement of completed, accepted and approved project expenses shall be subject to 

the receipt of sufficient tax increment funds for the District in which the project is 

located. 

4. FLOW OF FUNDS FROM SEMI-ANNUAL TAX INCREMENT PAYMENTS: 

a. Semi-annual tax increment funds shall continue to be allocated to the District’s 

Proponents in accordance with existing OPA Agreements with the exception of the 

amount allocated (not to exceed 15%, as determined by the Commission) for the Minor 

Project Program of each urban renewal district. Provided however, any OPA Agreements 

executed prior to August 1, 2024 shall not be subject to the Minor Project Program 

allocation without the contracting Proponent’s written consent. 

b. Funds shall be held in the Commission’s LGIP Construction Improvement Account.  For 

financial reporting purposes, such funds shall be noted as being reserved for the Minor 

Project Program of each District.  

c. Upon receipt of tax increment funds allocated for the Minor Projects Program within any 

urban renewal district totaling $250,000, no further funds shall be set aside for the Minor 

Project Program within that District until the amount set aside for the Minor Projects 

Program within that District falls below $250,000 or the Commission has approved 

Minor Project applications totaling more than $250,000. 

d. Allocation of funds for the Minor Project Program shall cease in the last 24 months of an 

Urban Renewal District’s term. 

e. In the final year of an Urban Renewal District’s term, all funds allocated for Minor 

Projects which are not committed to improvements underway, shall be re-allocated to 

those District Proponents who have not been fully reimbursed for approved and dedicated 

improvements as set forth in the OPA and the District Plan. 

f. Tax Increment funds remaining after full reimbursement of all Proponents and all 

approved Minor Projects shall be allocated in accordance with Urban Renewal 

Commission Policy relating to closing an urban renewal District and Idaho Code Section 

50-2909(4). 

 

 



FOURTH ADDENDUM TO AGENCY POLICY #7 – 3 

 

 

Approved by the Post Falls Urban Renewal Agency Board of Commissioners: 

 

POST FALLS URBAN RENEWAL AGENCY 

An Idaho Urban Renewal Agency 

 

 

By:  ________________________________________, Chair                   Date:  _________________ 

        Jamè Davis, Chairperson 

 



POST FALLS
Urban Renewal







 

QUOTE 
22359 

9/26/2024 

EXPIRES 

10/26/2024 

PREPARED FOR 
Joseph Johns 

Post Falls Urban Renewal Agency 

201 East 4th Avenue, Post Falls, ID 83854 United States 

PREPARED BY 
Shane Arrian, sarrian@intermaxteam.com 

Intermax Networks 

7400 N Mineral Drive Suite 300, Coeur d’Alene, ID 83815 

PRODUCTS 
Product Description Quantity Sales Price Total 

 BNDW - BUSI - FBR 300Mbps x 
300Mbps 

1.00 $50.00 $50.00 

 Calix U6 Router Support  1.00 $25.00 $25.00 

 Calix U6 Router Support - 
Promo 

 1.00 ($25.00) ($25.00) 

   Subtotal $50.00 

   Taxes  

   Total $50.00 

TERMS 
36 Months 

Net 30 

NOTES 
Intermax Networks will provide the following: Install fiber to your suite.  

Provide unlimited high speed internet at a 300Mbps download with a 300Mbps upload.  

Set up and provide support for 1 premium Wi-Fi device. 

REP SIGNATURE 
Shane Arrian

\s1\ \d1\

 

CUSTOMER SIGNATURE 
Joseph Johns

\s2\ \d2\

 

Docusign Envelope ID: ABBB70B6-530C-4451-83CF-7FB83DE20C95

9/26/2024



 
 

 
 

Intermax Networks   7400 Mineral Drive, Suite 300, Coeur d’Alene, Idaho 83815 www.intermaxnetworks.com 

Coeur d’Alene 208-762-8065 

INTERNET DATA AND VOICE COMMERCIAL-ENTERPRISE SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 

This INTERNET DATA AND VOICE COMMERCIAL-ENTERPRISE SERVICE AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) 
is entered into effective as of 09/26/2024 (the “Effective Date”), by and between Newmax, LLC, dba Intermax 
Networks, an Idaho limited liability company (“Intermax”), whose principal place of business is located at 7400 
Mineral Drive, Suite 300, Coeur d’Alene, Idaho 83815 and Post Falls Urban Renewal Agency (hereinafter 
referred to as “Customer”), whose principal place of business is located at 201 E 4th Ave, Post Fall, ID 83854.  
As used in this Agreement, “Party” means either Customer or Intermax, as appropriate, and “Parties” means 
Customer and Intermax. 

 
This Agreement does not refer to any Information Technology, Network Management services, 

“Managed Services”, or Data Center services offered through Intermax or any other vendor. 
 

ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS 
1.1 Meaning of Terms. Terms have their normal or common meanings, except as otherwise defined 

in this Agreement: 
(a) Affiliate:   An entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, either 

Intermax or Customer. “Control” is the ability to affect, directly or indirectly, the policies, management and 
operations of an entity through ownership of voting securities, by contract, or otherwise. 

(b) Agreement:    This Agreement, including incorporated Addenda, Exhibits, Schedules, and other 
documents, as well as any Amendments made by the Parties. 

(c) Carrier Customer:    A common carrier or other service provider to whom Customer furnishes 
telecommunications or related services using, in part, any Service provided under this Agreement. 

(d) Circuit:   A telecommunications facility connecting two or more Customer locations. 
(e) Customer:   The person, firm, corporation or other entity that orders Service and is responsible 

for the payment of all charges for Service, as well as compliance with applicable Agreement requirements. 
(f) Emergency Maintenance:  Maintenance which, if not accomplished promptly by Intermax, 

could result in damage to Intermax’s Network or a degradation or loss of Service to Customer, its End Users or 
other Intermax customers. 

(g) End User:   Any person or entity receiving or using Service. An End User may be a person or 
entity to whom Customer (or its customer) provides telecommunications or related services that employ, in 
part, any Service provided under this Agreement. 

(h) Exhibit:   A document that is appended to and made part of this Agreement and pertains to a 
particular product. 

(i) Governmental Charges:   Charges, both retroactive and prospective, that Intermax is required 
or permitted to collect from Customers in connection with the furnishing of Service by Intermax. The charges 
result from the application, enforcement or interpretation of existing, new or revised laws or regulations, 
actions taken by federal, state, local or foreign regulatory authorities, or judicial acts or decisions (collectively, 
“Governmental Activity”) that directly or indirectly impose costs on Intermax. Governmental Charges include, 
but are not limited to, those arising out of local, state, federal, foreign and third-party actions, programs or 
requirements relating to Universal Service, number portability, TRS, E911, access, reciprocal compensation and 
franchising. 

(j) NDA: Non-Disclosure Agreement, which may be attached as an Exhibit to this Agreement. 
(k) Network:   The telecommunications network of one of the Parties. 
(l) Off-Net Service: Service where one or more of the locations at which Service is provided is not 

served directly by Intermax’s Network, thereby requiring that a portion of Service be furnished by a third-party 
service provider. When Intermax provides Off-Net Service, the terms, conditions and pricing is done on an 
individual case basis (“ICB”) and will be subject to the requirements of the underlying service provider for that 
part of the Service it provides. Intermax will order service from the third party and will invoice Customer third 
party charges, but Intermax will not be responsible for the third-party service provider’s performance. 

Docusign Envelope ID: ABBB70B6-530C-4451-83CF-7FB83DE20C95



 
 

Rev. 06-2023 

2 

(m) On-Net Service: Service where all locations at which Service is provided are served directly by 
Intermax’s Network, allowing the entire Service to be furnished by Intermax. 

(n) Planned Service Outage: A Service Outage caused by scheduled maintenance or by upgrades 
made to the Intermax Network. 

(o) Point of Presence (POP): A specific location within a Local Access Transport Area (LATA) 
where Service originates or terminates. 

(p) Point of Termination: A location at which Intermax’s Service responsibilities end and 
Customer’s or End User’s responsibilities begin. A Point of Termination may be the demarc where Intermax 
and Customer interconnect at Customer Premises, a local exchange carrier’s central office, a long-distance 
carrier’s POP, or End-User sites identified on an ASR. 

(q) Premises: A physical address at which Service is provided and identified as a Point of 
Termination or Service location in a Schedule. 

(r) Schedule: A document made part of this agreement via both parties’ signature.  One which 
defines the service and related charges.  Service specific performance metrics may be included. 

(s) Service: Intermax-provided telecommunications or related service described in an Exhibit, or a 
Schedule. Service may include entrance cables or drop wires terminating in an Intermax distribution panel 
(DSX) situated on Customer Premises. 

(t) Service Outage: An interruption or degradation of Service. 
(u) Taxes: Amounts Intermax is required or permitted by federal, state, local or foreign taxing 

authorities to collect from Customer in connection with the furnishing of Service. Taxes include, but are not 
limited to, personal property taxes on property used to provide Service and sales, use, receipts, 
telecommunications, excise, utility, or other similar transaction-based taxes, however designated, imposed 
directly on the Service or upon Intermax as a result of its provision of Service. “Taxes” does not include any tax 
based on Intermax’s net income, net worth, capital structure or payroll. 

 
ARTICLE 2 - SERVICE; OBLIGATIONS/LIMITATIONS 

2.1 Service. Intermax will provide, and Customer will receive, Service pursuant to the terms of 
this Agreement. 

2.2 Availability of Facilities. 
(a) Service is offered and furnished subject to the availability of all necessary facilities, including 

those acquired by Intermax from or through third parties. Intermax may limit or allocate Service, if necessary, 
due to facilities availability, taking into account Intermax’s then-current and projected capacity and the 
reasonable expectations of its existing and future customers. 

(b) Except as expressly provided otherwise in an Exhibit or Schedule, Intermax, following the 
provision of reasonable notice to Customer, may: (1) alter the methods, processes or suppliers by or through 
which it provides Service; (2) discontinue furnishing a feature or supporting an application associated with 
Service; (3) change the facilities used to provide Service; or (4) substitute comparable Service for that being 
furnished to Customer. 

(c) Except as expressly provided otherwise in an Exhibit or Schedule, the facilities used to provide 
Service will be of Intermax’s exclusive choosing. In no event will title to those facilities vest in Customer or 
others, unless specifically agreed to in a Schedule.  

2.3 Access to Premises. Customer will provide Intermax, its agents or contractors with 
reasonable access to Customer and End User Premises to provision, inspect, maintain and repair Service or 
retrieve Intermax Service-related equipment situated on Customer or End User Premises. If access rights are 
not held by Customer, Customer will acquire them so that Intermax timely can perform these undertakings. 

2.4 Worksite Conditions: Customer will make available commercially acceptable environments 
(electrical grounding, ventilation, etc.) to accommodate Services.  As applicable, additional Worksite Conditions 
will be noted in a Schedule.  

2.5 Delays; Non-performance. Intermax will not be liable to Customer or others with respect to 
any: (a) delay in meeting a Service Request Date; or (b) inability to provide Service after the Start of Service 
Date, except to the extent set forth in this Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: ABBB70B6-530C-4451-83CF-7FB83DE20C95



 
 

Rev. 06-2023 

3 

2.6 Customer Information. In addition to providing information necessary to provision Service, 
Customer must timely provide other information reasonably requested by Intermax relating, among other 
things, to Customer’s financial standing or its application or use of Service.  

 
ARTICLE 3 - VOIP SERVICES  

3.1 Enhanced 911. 
(a) VoIP Service includes Enhanced 911 (“E911”). 911 is the official national emergency number in the 
United States. Dialing 911 quickly connects a caller to a Public Safety Answering Point dispatcher 
("Dispatcher") trained to route that call to the local emergency medical, fire, and law enforcement agencies. 
Many, but not all, 911 systems now automatically report the telephone number and address of 911 calls made 
from wire line phones. This is known as the E911 system. E911 is available within your 911 system.  
(b) For 911/E911 to work in accordance with INTERMAX specifications, Intermax must have a correct 
service address for the location of the Customer. If you do not provide the correct address when you register 
for the Telephone Service, 911/E911 may fail: (i) the calls may be misdirected to the wrong emergency 
authorities or (ii) emergency authorities will be given the wrong address for the origin of the call.  
(c) 911 service will not work if you experience a power outage, service outage, or a network disruption. 
Battery backup will be required in the event of a power outage.  
(d) Rates set forth in the Quote and this Agreement do not include any taxes or government-related or 
administrative fees and charges, including fees for Federal Universal Service and 911 Emergency Services. Any 
taxes and fees charged will be reflected as a separate line item on your monthly bill. 

 
ARTICLE 4 - BILLING; PAYMENT; FINANCIAL STANDING 

4.1 Cost of Service.   Cost for these services will be included on the Proposal Letter or document 
signed by the Customer and attached to this agreement for purposes of agreeing to services and price. 

4.2 Billing. Monthly recurring charges are billed in advance; usage charges are billed in arrears; 
and non-recurring charges may be billed in advance or in arrears. If Service is made available on a day other 
than the first day of a monthly billing period, or if Service is discontinued on a day other than the last day of a 
monthly billing period, monthly recurring charges will be prorated for the monthly billing period. 

4.3 Customer Payment Obligation. Except as provided in Section 4.6 or an Exhibit, Customer 
must pay all invoiced charges for Service without deduction or setoff within thirty (30) days of the date of an 
invoice (“Payment Period”). Unless otherwise permitted by Intermax, payment must be made by check or wire 
transfer in accordance with instructions provided by Intermax. If payment is made by check any restrictive 
endorsements or statements placed on checks will not be binding on Intermax. 

4.4 Late Payments.  
(a) Interest. Except with respect to amounts disputed in good-faith by Customer, compounded 

interest shall accrue on invoiced charges not paid within the Payment Period as follows:  (i) all sums remaining 
unpaid between one (1) and fifty nine (59) days after the expiration of the Payment Period shall accrue interest 
at the rate of one and one-half percent (1.0%) per month (or the maximum allowed by law, if less) from the 
expiration of the Payment Period until the date payment is made; and (ii) if such sums remain unpaid for sixty 
(60) or more days after the expiration of the Payment Period, such sums shall accrue interest at the rate of 
three percent (3%) per month (or the maximum allowed by law, if less) from the expiration of the Payment 
Period until the date payment is made.  Interest due hereunder shall be referred to herein as the “Default Rate 
of Interest.” In addition, Customer may be required to reimburse Intermax for all reasonable costs incurred in 
connection with collection activities, including attorneys’ fees and court costs. 

(b) Default Payments.  In addition to the default interest set forth above, if Customer defaults in 
the payment of any sum due hereunder, Customer shall pay to Intermax Networks a late charge equal to five 
percent (5%) of the overdue amount.  The parties hereby agree that such late charge represents a fair and 
reasonable estimate of the costs Intermax Networks will incur by reason of late payment of 
Customer.  Acceptance of such late charge by Intermax Networks shall in no event constitute a waiver of 
Customer’s default with respect to such overdue amount, nor prevent Intermax Networks from exercising any 
of the other rights and remedies granted hereunder.   

Docusign Envelope ID: ABBB70B6-530C-4451-83CF-7FB83DE20C95



 
 

Rev. 06-2023 

4 

(c) Order of Application of Payments.  All payments hereunder shall be applied first to fees, 
charges, including late charges, attorney's fees and costs, if any, then to interest and then to principal (with the 
oldest outstanding principal amounts being the first to be paid). 

4.5 Customer Financial Standing.  Intermax may request at any time information from a 
reporting agency to enable Intermax to assess Customer’s credit history and current credit standing. Based on 
the information acquired or, otherwise, upon a determination by Intermax of a change in Customer’s financial 
condition based on other considerations, Intermax may change its billing arrangement with Customer. 

4.6 Bill Disputes. To dispute an invoice, Customer must notify Intermax by submitting its dispute 
as provided in Section 15.1, which must include billing information, Circuit number(s) and location(s), and any 
opened trouble ticket number(s), along with a full explanation of the basis of the disputed charges. Except as 
provided in an Exhibit, Customer, in good faith, may withhold the disputed amount up to twenty percent (20%) 
of the total amount of invoiced charges but, nevertheless, must pay the remainder of the invoice within the 
Payment Period.  No charge may be disputed more than ninety (90) days after the date of the invoice on which 
a charge appears. Any Customer payment of a charge timely disputed and in the manner required will not 
deprive Customer of its right to dispute the charge. Intermax promptly will investigate Customer’s claim with 
a view toward resolving the dispute within thirty (30) days of Intermax’s receipt of Customer’s notice. 
Following an investigation in which Customer co-operates with Intermax, Intermax may in good faith reject 
Customer’s claim, in whole or in part, and will advise Customer of the reason for its action. If the dispute is not 
resolved to Customer’s satisfaction, the Parties may further address the dispute pursuant to Article 13. 

4.7 Bill Dispute Consequences. If a disputed amount withheld by Customer is determined to 
have been a legitimate charge, interest at the Default Rate of Interest may be charged on the amount not paid 
within the original Payment Period, and Customer must pay the total amount due and owing within five (5) 
business days of its receipt of notice of the determination from Intermax. 

4.8 Consequences of Non-Payment. If Customer does not make payment of invoiced charges in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement within ninety (90) days of the expiration of the Payment 
Period, Intermax may, at its option, do one or more of the following: (a) refuse to accept additional Schedules; 
(b) without further notice, suspend and/or disconnect Service furnished under this Agreement or any other 
service agreement until Customer has paid all past due amounts owed, with interest and late charges as set 
forth herein; (c) offset unpaid balances with amounts Intermax may owe Customer under any other agreement 
between the Parties; or (d) require weekly payments or a deposit of up to two (2) times Customer’s aggregate 
monthly invoicing for the most recently invoiced monthly billing period. Service also may be suspended and/or 
disconnected for Customer’s failure to comply with Section 4.8(d). Following any suspension or disconnection 
of Service for non-payment, Service will not be restored until Customer pays in full all charges then due, 
including any late fees, interest, collection costs, and the costs incurred by Intermax in restoring Service.  In 
addition, Customer shall provide to Intermax satisfactory assurances of its ability to pay all charges during the 
remainder of the Service term. If Customer fails to timely make full payment of the charges due, Service will be 
terminated effective as of the date of suspension. 

4.9 Special Construction or Acquisition. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this 
Agreement, if Intermax is required to specially construct or acquire telecommunications facilities from a third 
party, or both, in order to provide Service, and the costs thereof are not included in the Monthly Recurring 
Charge (“MRC”) for the affected Service(s), the Parties will agree in writing on the charges applicable to the 
construction or acquisition prior to the undertaking of the activity by Intermax. If Customer cancels this 
Agreement or any Schedule involving special construction or acquisition after the acceptance of a Schedule but 
prior to the Start of Service Date, Customer must reimburse Intermax for all unpaid costs and expenses incurred 
by Intermax in connection with the special construction or acquisition up to the time of cancellation. This 
payment obligation is in addition to any other rights and remedies Intermax may have at law, in equity, or as 
provided in this Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE 5 - TAXES AND GOVERNMENTAL CHARGES 

5.1 Applicability. Service charges do not include Taxes or Governmental Charges to be invoiced 
to Customer, as applicable, in connection with the furnishing of Service. 

Docusign Envelope ID: ABBB70B6-530C-4451-83CF-7FB83DE20C95



 
 

Rev. 06-2023 

5 

5.2 Payment and Other Obligations. Customer must pay existing and future Taxes and 
Governmental Charges and comply with new or revised terms and conditions imposed by Intermax as a result 
of Governmental Activity. If Intermax decides to impose a new or revised Governmental Activity charge or 
impose new or revised terms and conditions neither mandated by nor consistent with a Governmental Activity, 
Intermax will furnish Customer with at least thirty (30) days’ notice of the new or revised charge or terms and 
conditions. 

5.3 Exemption Certificate. If Customer believes itself to be exempt from any Taxes or 
Governmental Charges, it must provide Intermax with a certificate demonstrating its eligibility for exemption. 
If the certificate is accepted, Intermax will cease imposing the applicable Taxes or Governmental Charges and, 
if such charges previously had been imposed and collected, Intermax will credit Customer in an amount equal 
to the charges paid by Customer during the ninety (90) day period immediately preceding the delivery of the 
accepted certificate, unless otherwise required by law or regulation. 

5.4 Survival. Customer’s obligation to pay Taxes and Governmental Charges under this Article 5 
will survive the expiration or early termination of the Agreement. 

 
ARTICLE 6 - TERM AND TERMINATION 

6.1 Term of Agreement. The initial term of the Agreement will commence on the Effective Date 
above, or actual Date of Service Installation and commencement of billing (whichever date is later) and will end 
36 months thereafter. The Agreement automatically will renew on a month-to-month basis unless one Party 
provides the other with written notice of its intent not to renew it at least ninety (90) days prior to the end of 
the initial term or at least sixty (60) days prior to the end of any renewal term. If a term of Service established 
in a separate addendum Schedule extends beyond the date of expiration of the Agreement, the affected Service 
will be provided in accordance with the term established in the Schedule pursuant to the terms of this 
Agreement as though it had remained in full force and effect.  Schedules will automatically renew on an annual 
basis unless the same notification timeframes are abided.   

6.2 Termination of Agreement and Discontinuation of Service.   
Early Termination or Discontinuation. Unless otherwise agreed by the Parties in writing, Customer will be 
liable for 100% of the early termination charges under this Agreement for discontinuing Service prior to the 
expiration of a Service term. 
 
ARTICLE 7 - WARRANTIES 

7.1 The Parties. Each Party represents and warrants it is, and will remain, duly organized, validly 
existing, and in good standing under the laws of the place of its origin, and possesses all the authority necessary 
to enter into and perform its obligations under this Agreement. 

7.2 Intermax. Intermax represents and warrants that: (a) its On-Net Service is designed, installed, 
provided, and maintained in compliance with applicable legal requirements; and (b) it possesses, and will 
maintain, all licenses, approvals, registrations and certifications required by regulators or other third parties 
to furnish its Services to Customer. 

7.3 Customer. Customer represents and warrants that: (a) services it furnishes to its End Users 
and Carrier Customers are designed, installed, provided, and maintained in compliance with applicable legal 
requirements and those established in this Agreement; (b) all Customer traffic handled by Intermax is 
compliant with applicable legal requirements and those established in this Agreement; and (c) it possesses, and 
will maintain, all licenses, approvals, registrations and certifications required by regulators or other third 
parties to furnish its services. 

7.4 Exclusion of Other Warranties. THE WARRANTIES SET FORTH IN SECTIONS 7.1-7.3 ARE IN 
LIEU OF ALL OTHER WARRANTIES, WRITTEN OR ORAL, STATUTORY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, 
WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR 
PURPOSE OR USE, NON-INTERFERENCE, AND NON-INFRINGEMENT. 

 
ARTICLE 8 – DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

8.1 Default Events. A Party is in default under this Agreement if any of the following occurs (each 
an “Event of Default”): 

Docusign Envelope ID: ABBB70B6-530C-4451-83CF-7FB83DE20C95



 
 

Rev. 06-2023 

6 

(a) A Party becomes insolvent, liquidates, is adjudicated as bankrupt, makes an assignment for 
the benefit of creditors, invokes any provision of law for the relief of debtors or initiates any proceeding seeking 
protection from its creditors; or 

(b) A Party violates any legal requirement relating to the provision or receipt of Service, and the 
violation is not remedied within thirty (30) days of receipt of written notice of the violation;  

(c) Except as may otherwise be provided in an Exhibit, a Party fails to perform a material 
obligation under this Agreement (other than the payment of money), and the failure is not remedied within 
thirty (30) days of receipt of written notice of the failure.  Unless otherwise provided in an Exhibit or Schedule, 
any failure of Service resulting in Service Outage credits is not a default entitling Customer to terminate the 
affected Service or this Agreement; or 

(d) Customer fails to pay any amounts due hereunder, and the failure is not remedied within ten 
(10) days of written notice of the failure; provided, however, Intermax shall not be required to provide such 
notice more than two times in any twelve-month period and such failure to pay when due thereafter shall be 
deemed an Event of Default without notice. 

8.2 Default Remedies.  Upon any Event of Default hereunder, the non-defaulting Party shall have 
the following remedies, to be exercised at its option, in addition to other remedies at law or in equity: 

(a) Termination for Non-Monetary Breach.  In addition to remedies available at law or in 
equity, the non-defaulting Party may terminate this Agreement (including its Exhibits and Schedules, both 
implemented and pending), in whole or in part, for any Event of Default other than the failure to pay any sums 
due hereunder. 

(b) Termination for Failure to Pay.  Upon any Event of Default arising from the failure to pay 
any sums due hereunder, Intermax shall have those remedies set forth in Section 4.7 hereof.   

(c) Early Termination Charges. A payment default or other default by Customer resulting in 
termination of this Agreement or any Service will entitle Intermax to collect from Customer applicable early 
termination charges, in addition to pursuing other available remedies. 

 
ARTICLE 9 - CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION, CPNI, AND REGULATORY POLICIES 

9.1 Confidential Information. Each Party must protect the other’s confidential information with 
the same degree of care used to protect its own confidential information, but in no event may less than a 
reasonable standard of care be used by either Party in connection with the preservation of the other Party’s 
confidential information.  

9.2 CPNI. Customer Proprietary Network Information (“CPNI”) is Customer information acquired 
by Intermax from provisioning regulated telecommunications services to Customer. CPNI includes, among 
other things, Service identities, quantities and locations; information on how Service is being used; and Service 
billing information. A current version of the Intermax CPNI policy can be found at: 
www.intermaxnetworks.com, and is updated from time to time at that address, and customer agrees to the 
terms of that CPNI with their signature on this agreement.   

9.3 REGULATORY POLICIES.  Intermax keeps current copies of regulatory policies for review and 
download at: www.intermaxnetworks.com.  Such current policies include: Privacy Policy; DMCA Policy; 
Acceptable Use Policy; and Website Terms and Condition are located there.  From time to time as Federal 
and/or State regulations require, Intermax may update those policies and send notifications out.  Details on 
compliance and communication about those policies reside on the website, and by signing this agreement 
Customer affirms they have reviewed those policies. 

 
ARTICLE 10 - INDEMNIFICATION 

10.1 Intermax’s Indemnification of Customer. Intermax will defend and indemnify Customer, its 
employees, directors, officers, and agents, from and against any suit, proceeding, or other claim brought by any 
person or entity (not a party to or an Affiliate of a party to this Agreement) that is caused by, arises from, or 
relates to: (a) damage to real or tangible personal property or personal injuries (including death) arising out 
of the gross negligence or willful act or omission of Intermax in the provision of Service; or (b) Intermax’s 
violation of any of its representations and warranties under this Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: ABBB70B6-530C-4451-83CF-7FB83DE20C95

http://www.intermaxnetworks.com/
http://www.intermaxnetworks.com/


 
 

Rev. 06-2023 

7 

10.2 Customer’s Indemnification of Intermax. Customer will defend and indemnify Intermax, its 
employees, directors, officers and agents, from and against any suit, proceeding, or other claim brought by any 
person or entity (not a party to or an Affiliate of a party to this Agreement) that is caused by, arises from, or 
relates to: (a) damage to real or tangible personal property, personal injuries (including death) arising out of 
the gross negligence or willful act or omission of Customer in the use of the Service; (b) representations 
regarding the nature of Customer’s traffic; (c) any use or resale of Service by Customer or others; or (d) 
Customer’s violation of any of its representations and warranties under this Agreement. 

10.3 Intellectual Property. If Service, by itself as provided by Intermax, becomes, or if Intermax 
reasonably believes it may become, the subject of a suit, proceeding or other claim by any person or entity (not 
a party to or an Affiliate of a party to this Agreement) that the Service directly infringes U.S. patent, trademark 
or copyright rights of such person or entity, Intermax at its own expense and option will: (a) procure the right 
to continue to provide Service; (b) modify or replace Service with a different one having substantially similar 
functionality; or (c) discontinue the Service and, as appropriate, refund to Customer a pro-rata portion of 
charges paid by Customer through the date of Service discontinuance. 

10.4 Procedure. If a claim is made against Intermax or Customer, the Party in receipt of the claim 
(“Indemnified Party”) will notify the other Party (“Indemnifying Party”) in writing no later than sixty (60) days 
after learning of a potential claim. The Indemnifying Party will be entitled to assume sole control of the defense 
of the claim and all related settlement negotiations. The Indemnified Party will provide assistance, information 
and authority reasonably necessary to assist the Indemnifying Party. A Party may not settle a claim without the 
other’s consent if the settlement would impose an obligation on, or require any admission by, the other Party. 
Failure of the Indemnified Party to provide notification of a claim will not relieve the Indemnifying Party of its 
obligations under this Agreement except to the extent the delay prejudices the Indemnifying Party. 

10.5 Limitation. Sections 10.1 and 10.3 set forth the entire liability of Intermax, and Customer’s 
sole and exclusive remedies, with respect to any claim subject to indemnification under this Agreement. 

10.6 Survival. These indemnification obligations will survive this Agreement. 
 

ARTICLE 11 - LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 
11.1 Consequential Damages. Neither Party is liable to the other for any indirect, consequential, 

special, incidental, reliance, or punitive damages of any kind or nature whatsoever including, without 
limitation, any lost profits, lost revenues, lost savings or any other business loss including goodwill, loss of use 
of property, loss of data, cost of substitute performance equipment or services, downtime costs, and claims for 
damages or harm to business regardless of foreseeability or whether damages are caused by the negligence, 
willful misconduct, or wrongful act arising from or related to this Agreement. A Party’s out-of-pocket costs for 
damages of the kinds specified in the preceding sentence that are recovered by a third party are indirect 
damages to such Party, and each Party releases the other Party and its Affiliates, as well as their respective 
officers, directors, managers, employees, and agents, from damages from such claim(s), except to the extent 
they constitute claims for which indemnification is due under Sections 10.1 and 10.2. 

11.2 Service Credits and Liability Limits. Customer’s sole remedy for any failure of Service is the 
right to receive Service Outage credits due under the Agreement. INTERMAX’S ENTIRE LIABILITY, AND 
CUSTOMER’S SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY FOR CLAIMS ARISING UNDER OR IN ANY WAY RELATED TO 
THIS AGREEMENT (OTHER THAN FOR SERVICE FAILURES FOR WHICH SERVICE OUTAGE CREDITS WILL BE 
GIVEN AS SET FORTH ABOVE), IS LIMITED TO THE LESSER OF THE DIRECT DAMAGES ALLEGED AND PROVED 
BY CUSTOMER OR THE TOTAL AMOUNT PAID BY CUSTOMER FOR SERVICE DURING THE THREE (3) 
MONTHLY BILLING PERIODS IMMEDIATELY PRECEDING A CLAIM. The foregoing limitations apply to all 
causes of action and claims irrespective of their nature, including breach of contract, breach of warranty, strict 
liability, negligence, misrepresentation, or any other tort. 

 
ARTICLE 12 - FORCE MAJEURE 

With the exception of payment of fees and charges due under this Agreement and except as otherwise 
expressly provided in this Agreement, neither Party shall be liable to the other Party under this Agreement for 
any delay or failure of performance resulting from any cause beyond such Party’s reasonable control and 
without its fault or negligence, including without limitation, unusually severe weather conditions; earthquakes; 

Docusign Envelope ID: ABBB70B6-530C-4451-83CF-7FB83DE20C95

pbred
Cross-Out

pbred
Inserted Text
insert "by Customer"



 
 

Rev. 06-2023 

8 

floods; nuclear accidents; acts of God; epidemics; war, terrorist acts, riots, insurrections and civil disturbances; 
government regulations; acts of civil or military authorities or the public enemy; and fuel or energy shortages 
(collectively “Force Majeure”).  The Parties agree that no labor dispute concerning the personnel and 
subcontractors of either Party will be considered a Force Majeure event.  

 
ARTICLE 13 - DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

13.1 Applicable Law and Venue. This Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of Idaho 
without regard to choice of law principles. Any action arising out of or relating to this Agreement must be 
brought exclusively in state courts located in Kootenai County, Idaho, or in the United States District Court for 
the District of Idaho. Customer waives any right or entitlement to bring an action in other venues. 

13.2 Litigation Election. Either Party may elect to litigate the following type of case or 
controversy: (a) an action seeking equitable relief; (b) a suit to compel compliance with this dispute resolution 
process; or (c) non-compliance with a Party’s publicity obligations. Intermax may elect to litigate billing or 
payment disputes or collections matters. 

13.3 Mediation. The Parties may elect to engage in non-binding mediation as a first alternative to 
litigation. Such an election must be mutual and reflected in a writing signed by both Parties. Each Party will 
bear its own costs in mediation and all third-party mediation costs will be shared equally between the Parties, 
unless otherwise agreed. 

 
ARTICLE 14 - ASSIGNMENT 

14.1 Assignability. Upon at least sixty (60) days written notice, either Party may assign this 
Agreement to an Affiliate without the prior written consent of the other Party. In connection with any 
assignment by Customer to an Affiliate, or a merger, reorganization or sale of all or substantially all Customer 
assets to a third party, the assignee must: (a) assume, in writing, all responsibilities and obligations under this 
Agreement; (b) be at least as creditworthy as Customer (as determined by Intermax in its reasonable 
discretion) as of the Effective Date of this Agreement; and (c) deliver to Intermax executed documents that are 
acceptable to Intermax and establish the terms of the Assignment. 

14.2 Prior Agreement. If this Agreement is assigned to an entity that, prior to the assignment, had 
an agreement with Intermax, the service being provided will continue to be governed by that prior agreement, 
and the Service provided under this Agreement will be governed by this Agreement, each without reference to 
the other. 

 
ARTICLE 15 - NOTICES 

15.1 Bill Disputes. Customer must submit a dispute of any invoiced charge(s) electronically to: 
billing@intermaxteam.com and corporate@intermaxteam.com or such other address as Intermax may specify 
from time to time. 

15.2 Service Discontinuation. Customer must submit a request to discontinue a Service to 
billing@intermaxteam.com or such other address as Intermax may specify from time to time.  A request to 
discontinue Service will be effective no sooner than thirty (30) days after receipt thereof.  

15.3 Other Matters. All other notices under this Agreement, including any notice pertaining to 
termination of this Agreement, must be in writing and delivered by overnight courier (e.g., Federal Express, 
DHL) or certified mail, return receipt requested, or via electronic mail to the persons whose names and 
business addresses appear below. A notice will take effect on the date of its receipt by the receiving Party: 

 
If to Intermax: Newmax, LLC, dba Intermax Networks 

7400 Mineral Drive, Suite 300 
Coeur d’Alene, Idaho 83815 
Attn: Mike Kennedy, President 

 Email: mkennedy@intermaxteam.com  
With Copy To:  corporate@intermaxteam.com 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: ABBB70B6-530C-4451-83CF-7FB83DE20C95

mailto:corporate@intermaxteam.com


 
 

Rev. 06-2023 

9 

If to Customer: Post Falls Urban Renewal Agency 

201 E 4th Ave 

Post Falls, ID 83854 

Attn: Joseph Johns 

 Email: postfallsura@gmail.com   

 
Intermax may change its address and point(s)-of-contact by notifying Customer by bill message insert, email, 
or in accordance with the requirements established in this Article. 

 

ARTICLE 16 - MISCELLANEOUS 
16.1 Interpretation. This Agreement may not be construed or interpreted against either Customer 

or Intermax because that Party drafted, or caused its legal representative to draft, any of its provisions. 
16.2 Order of Precedence. If there is an express inconsistency between a term in this Agreement, 

by itself, and a term in any Exhibit A, Schedule, or other contract document (including any Non-disclosure 
Agreement), the order of precedence, from the most to the least controlling, is the term contained in: 

(a) This Agreement; 
(b) The Exhibit A; and 
(c) The Schedule or other contract document (including any Non-disclosure Agreement). 
16.3 Intermax Facilities, Equipment and Software. Intermax facilities, including equipment and 

software, used to provide any Service will remain the exclusive property of Intermax or its assignee, and 
nothing contained in this Agreement can be interpreted to convey to Customer any right, title or interest in the 
facilities, equipment or software, which will remain personal property even if attached to or embedded in 
realty. Customer may not remove or conceal any identifying plates, tags, or labels affixed to Intermax facilities 
or equipment, nor may Customer alter, or attempt to alter, software furnished as part of Service. Intermax may 
substitute or rearrange the facilities or equipment, or modify the software, so long as the quality of Service is 
not impaired by the changes. Upon termination of Service for any reason, Intermax will retrieve its facilities 
and equipment from Customer Premises or Customer, at its expense, will return to Intermax, within sixty (60) 
days of Service termination, all Intermax-provided facilities and equipment, along with any software and other 
information or materials provided by Intermax in connection with the furnishing of Service. The facilities, 
equipment, software or other materials retrieved or returned will be in the same condition as when initially 
delivered to Customer, normal wear and tear excepted. If Customer fails to return Intermax’s property or allow 
for its retrieval, Customer must reimburse Intermax, upon demand, for the replacement cost of the facilities, 
equipment, software, and other information or materials provided, as well as any costs incurred by Intermax 
resulting from the Customer’s failure to return Intermax’s property. 

16.4 Agency; Partnership; and Third Parties. Neither Party becomes the agent or legal 
representative of the other Party as a result of this Agreement (except where Customer signs a Letter of 
Authorization to port a phone number to execute on creating voice service), nor does it create a partnership or 
joint venture between the Parties. In addition, this Agreement confers no rights, benefits, or remedies of any 
kind on third parties including, without limitation, Customer’s Carrier Customers and any End Users. 

16.5 Waiver. No waiver of any provision in this Agreement will be binding unless in writing and 
signed by both Parties. The failure of a Party to insist on the strict enforcement of any provision of this 
Agreement will not constitute a waiver of the provision and all terms of the Agreement will remain in full force 
and effect. 

16.6 Subsequent Agreement; Signatures; and Communication Methods. 
(a) Subsequent Agreement. No subsequent agreement between the Parties concerning Service 

will take effect or be binding unless made in writing and signed by both Parties. 
(b) Signatures. Any requirement for a signature in any document relating to this Agreement may 

be satisfied by a facsimile transmission of an original signature or by delivery of electronic mail in PDF or 
similar scanned format, or by an electronic symbol or process (“e-signature”) attached to or logically associated 

Docusign Envelope ID: ABBB70B6-530C-4451-83CF-7FB83DE20C95



 
 

Rev. 06-2023 

10 

with this Agreement, including any component hereof, and executed or adopted by a person having the intent 
to sign the document. Any person completing, submitting or executing any such document on behalf of 
Customer by way of the Internet or other electronic or online means represents that he/she possesses the 
authority to act on Customer’s behalf and any such documents so delivered to, and accepted by, Intermax will 
be binding on Customer. 

(c) Communication Methods. Neither electronic mail nor instant messaging (IM) will be a 
“writing” sufficient to modify the terms of the Agreement, although those methods of communication may be 
used otherwise in the performance of the Parties’ obligations under this Agreement. 

16.7 Entire Agreement. This Agreement sets forth the entire understanding of the Parties and 
supersedes any prior or contemporaneous agreements, arrangements, or understandings, both written and 
oral, with regard to Service. The Addenda, Exhibits, and other documents to which reference has been made 
are integrated parts of this Agreement. 

16.8 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is found to be invalid or unenforceable under 
applicable law, it will be ineffective only to the extent of its invalidity and will not affect the remaining 
provisions in this Agreement. 

16.9 Non-Exclusivity. This Agreement is non-exclusive. Either Party may enter into similar 
arrangements with others.  Intermax may, as part of its normal business undertakings, actively market its 
services in full and fair competition with Customer or its Carrier Customers. 

16.10 Survival. The terms of this Agreement which, by their usage and context, are intended to 
survive this Agreement including, without limitation, the obligation to make payments for Service, will survive 
its expiration or termination. 

16.11 Headings and Internal References. 
(a) Headings. The Article and Section headings in this Agreement, including all its incorporated 

documents, are for convenience only and may not be considered in interpreting the provisions in which they 
appear. 

(b) Internal References. Any plainly erroneous references or citations to Articles and Sections 
in this Agreement, including all its incorporated documents, will allow either Party to demonstrate to the 
reasonable satisfaction of the other Party the intended reference or citation based on logic, context and 
previous versions of contractual documents. 

16.12 Authority. Each Party represents to the other that this Agreement has been duly authorized, 
executed, and delivered by and on behalf of such Party and constitutes the valid, binding, and enforceable 
agreement.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: ABBB70B6-530C-4451-83CF-7FB83DE20C95



 
 

Rev. 06-2023 

11 

AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED BY: 

Newmax, LLC, dba Intermax Networks 

BY:         
 AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE 

  Shane Arrian     
 PRINT NAME 

  Corporate Sales Associate   
                PRINT TITLE 

 
DATE:          

 
 
 

_______________________________________ 

Post Falls Urban Renewal Agency 

 

BY:        
 AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE 

       
 PRINT NAME 

       
 PRINT TITLE 

 
DATE:          

 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: ABBB70B6-530C-4451-83CF-7FB83DE20C95

9/26/2024

Joseph Johns


	01 - 10.17.24 Commission Agenda Amended
	04a - 09.19.24 Commission Minutes
	04b - 09.19.24 Commission Workshop Minutes
	04c - 09.26.24 CPP Minutes
	04d-f - Payables and Reports
	07a - 10-17-24 Fourth Addendum to Policy 7 re Minor Project Program
	07b1 - PFURA-brochure-revised
	07b2 - PFUR-logo-2024
	08a - 09-26-24 Intermax Quote and Contract (w PBB's Revisions)
	Article 1  - DEFINITIONS
	1.1 Meaning of Terms. Terms have their normal or common meanings, except as otherwise defined in this Agreement:
	(a) Affiliate:   An entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, either Intermax or Customer. “Control” is the ability to affect, directly or indirectly, the policies, management and operations of an entity through ownershi...
	(b) Agreement:    This Agreement, including incorporated Addenda, Exhibits, Schedules, and other documents, as well as any Amendments made by the Parties.
	(c) Carrier Customer:    A common carrier or other service provider to whom Customer furnishes telecommunications or related services using, in part, any Service provided under this Agreement.
	(d) Circuit:   A telecommunications facility connecting two or more Customer locations.
	(e) Customer:   The person, firm, corporation or other entity that orders Service and is responsible for the payment of all charges for Service, as well as compliance with applicable Agreement requirements.
	(f) Emergency Maintenance:  Maintenance which, if not accomplished promptly by Intermax, could result in damage to Intermax’s Network or a degradation or loss of Service to Customer, its End Users or other Intermax customers.
	(g) End User:   Any person or entity receiving or using Service. An End User may be a person or entity to whom Customer (or its customer) provides telecommunications or related services that employ, in part, any Service provided under this Agreement.
	(h) Exhibit:   A document that is appended to and made part of this Agreement and pertains to a particular product.
	(i) Governmental Charges:   Charges, both retroactive and prospective, that Intermax is required or permitted to collect from Customers in connection with the furnishing of Service by Intermax. The charges result from the application, enforcement or i...
	(j) NDA: Non-Disclosure Agreement, which may be attached as an Exhibit to this Agreement.
	(k) Network:   The telecommunications network of one of the Parties.
	(l) Off-Net Service: Service where one or more of the locations at which Service is provided is not served directly by Intermax’s Network, thereby requiring that a portion of Service be furnished by a third-party service provider. When Intermax provid...


	Article 1  - DEFINITIONS
	1.1 Meaning of Terms. Terms have their normal or common meanings, except as otherwise defined in this Agreement:
	(m) On-Net Service: Service where all locations at which Service is provided are served directly by Intermax’s Network, allowing the entire Service to be furnished by Intermax.
	(n) Planned Service Outage: A Service Outage caused by scheduled maintenance or by upgrades made to the Intermax Network.
	(o) Point of Presence (POP): A specific location within a Local Access Transport Area (LATA) where Service originates or terminates.
	(p) Point of Termination: A location at which Intermax’s Service responsibilities end and Customer’s or End User’s responsibilities begin. A Point of Termination may be the demarc where Intermax and Customer interconnect at Customer Premises, a local ...
	(q) Premises: A physical address at which Service is provided and identified as a Point of Termination or Service location in a Schedule.
	(r) Schedule: A document made part of this agreement via both parties’ signature.  One which defines the service and related charges.  Service specific performance metrics may be included.
	(s) Service: Intermax-provided telecommunications or related service described in an Exhibit, or a Schedule. Service may include entrance cables or drop wires terminating in an Intermax distribution panel (DSX) situated on Customer Premises.
	(t) Service Outage: An interruption or degradation of Service.
	(u) Taxes: Amounts Intermax is required or permitted by federal, state, local or foreign taxing authorities to collect from Customer in connection with the furnishing of Service. Taxes include, but are not limited to, personal property taxes on proper...


	Article 2  - SERVICE; OBLIGATIONS/LIMITATIONS
	2.1 Service. Intermax will provide, and Customer will receive, Service pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
	2.2 Availability of Facilities.
	(a) Service is offered and furnished subject to the availability of all necessary facilities, including those acquired by Intermax from or through third parties. Intermax may limit or allocate Service, if necessary, due to facilities availability, tak...
	(b) Except as expressly provided otherwise in an Exhibit or Schedule, Intermax, following the provision of reasonable notice to Customer, may: (1) alter the methods, processes or suppliers by or through which it provides Service; (2) discontinue furni...
	(c) Except as expressly provided otherwise in an Exhibit or Schedule, the facilities used to provide Service will be of Intermax’s exclusive choosing. In no event will title to those facilities vest in Customer or others, unless specifically agreed to...

	2.3 Access to Premises. Customer will provide Intermax, its agents or contractors with reasonable access to Customer and End User Premises to provision, inspect, maintain and repair Service or retrieve Intermax Service-related equipment situated on Cu...
	2.4 Worksite Conditions: Customer will make available commercially acceptable environments (electrical grounding, ventilation, etc.) to accommodate Services.  As applicable, additional Worksite Conditions will be noted in a Schedule.
	2.5 Delays; Non-performance. Intermax will not be liable to Customer or others with respect to any: (a) delay in meeting a Service Request Date; or (b) inability to provide Service after the Start of Service Date, except to the extent set forth in thi...

	Article 2  - SERVICE; OBLIGATIONS/LIMITATIONS
	2.6 Customer Information. In addition to providing information necessary to provision Service, Customer must timely provide other information reasonably requested by Intermax relating, among other things, to Customer’s financial standing or its applic...

	Article 3  - VOIP SERVICES
	3.1 Enhanced 911.
	(a) VoIP Service includes Enhanced 911 (“E911”). 911 is the official national emergency number in the United States. Dialing 911 quickly connects a caller to a Public Safety Answering Point dispatcher ("Dispatcher") trained to route that call to the l...
	(b) For 911/E911 to work in accordance with INTERMAX specifications, Intermax must have a correct service address for the location of the Customer. If you do not provide the correct address when you register for the Telephone Service, 911/E911 may fai...
	(c) 911 service will not work if you experience a power outage, service outage, or a network disruption. Battery backup will be required in the event of a power outage.
	(d) Rates set forth in the Quote and this Agreement do not include any taxes or government-related or administrative fees and charges, including fees for Federal Universal Service and 911 Emergency Services. Any taxes and fees charged will be reflecte...


	Article 4  - BILLING; PAYMENT; FINANCIAL STANDING
	4.1 Cost of Service.   Cost for these services will be included on the Proposal Letter or document signed by the Customer and attached to this agreement for purposes of agreeing to services and price.
	4.2 Billing. Monthly recurring charges are billed in advance; usage charges are billed in arrears; and non-recurring charges may be billed in advance or in arrears. If Service is made available on a day other than the first day of a monthly billing pe...
	4.3 Customer Payment Obligation. Except as provided in Section 4.6 or an Exhibit, Customer must pay all invoiced charges for Service without deduction or setoff within thirty (30) days of the date of an invoice (“Payment Period”). Unless otherwise per...
	4.4 Late Payments.
	(a) Interest. Except with respect to amounts disputed in good-faith by Customer, compounded interest shall accrue on invoiced charges not paid within the Payment Period as follows:  (i) all sums remaining unpaid between one (1) and fifty nine (59) day...
	(b) Default Payments.  In addition to the default interest set forth above, if Customer defaults in the payment of any sum due hereunder, Customer shall pay to Intermax Networks a late charge equal to five percent (5%) of the overdue amount.  The part...


	Article 4  - BILLING; PAYMENT; FINANCIAL STANDING
	4.4 Late Payments.
	(c) Order of Application of Payments.  All payments hereunder shall be applied first to fees, charges, including late charges, attorney's fees and costs, if any, then to interest and then to principal (with the oldest outstanding principal amounts bei...

	4.5 Customer Financial Standing.  Intermax may request at any time information from a reporting agency to enable Intermax to assess Customer’s credit history and current credit standing. Based on the information acquired or, otherwise, upon a determin...
	4.6 Bill Disputes. To dispute an invoice, Customer must notify Intermax by submitting its dispute as provided in Section 15.1, which must include billing information, Circuit number(s) and location(s), and any opened trouble ticket number(s), along wi...
	4.7 Bill Dispute Consequences. If a disputed amount withheld by Customer is determined to have been a legitimate charge, interest at the Default Rate of Interest may be charged on the amount not paid within the original Payment Period, and Customer mu...
	4.8 Consequences of Non-Payment. If Customer does not make payment of invoiced charges in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement within ninety (90) days of the expiration of the Payment Period, Intermax may, at its option, do one or more of ...
	4.9 Special Construction or Acquisition. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if Intermax is required to specially construct or acquire telecommunications facilities from a third party, or both, in order to provide Service, and ...

	Article 5  - TAXES AND GOVERNMENTAL CHARGES
	5.1 Applicability. Service charges do not include Taxes or Governmental Charges to be invoiced to Customer, as applicable, in connection with the furnishing of Service.

	Article 5  - TAXES AND GOVERNMENTAL CHARGES
	5.2 Payment and Other Obligations. Customer must pay existing and future Taxes and Governmental Charges and comply with new or revised terms and conditions imposed by Intermax as a result of Governmental Activity. If Intermax decides to impose a new o...
	5.3 Exemption Certificate. If Customer believes itself to be exempt from any Taxes or Governmental Charges, it must provide Intermax with a certificate demonstrating its eligibility for exemption. If the certificate is accepted, Intermax will cease im...
	5.4 Survival. Customer’s obligation to pay Taxes and Governmental Charges under this Article 5 will survive the expiration or early termination of the Agreement.

	Article 6  - TERM AND TERMINATION
	6.1 Term of Agreement. The initial term of the Agreement will commence on the Effective Date above, or actual Date of Service Installation and commencement of billing (whichever date is later) and will end 36 months thereafter. The Agreement automatic...
	6.2 Termination of Agreement and Discontinuation of Service.
	Early Termination or Discontinuation. Unless otherwise agreed by the Parties in writing, Customer will be liable for 100% of the early termination charges under this Agreement for discontinuing Service prior to the expiration of a Service term.

	Article 7  - WARRANTIES
	7.1 The Parties. Each Party represents and warrants it is, and will remain, duly organized, validly existing, and in good standing under the laws of the place of its origin, and possesses all the authority necessary to enter into and perform its oblig...
	7.2 Intermax. Intermax represents and warrants that: (a) its On-Net Service is designed, installed, provided, and maintained in compliance with applicable legal requirements; and (b) it possesses, and will maintain, all licenses, approvals, registrati...
	7.3 Customer. Customer represents and warrants that: (a) services it furnishes to its End Users and Carrier Customers are designed, installed, provided, and maintained in compliance with applicable legal requirements and those established in this Agre...
	7.4 Exclusion of Other Warranties. THE WARRANTIES SET FORTH IN SECTIONS 7.1-7.3 ARE IN LIEU OF ALL OTHER WARRANTIES, WRITTEN OR ORAL, STATUTORY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTI...

	Article 8  – DEFAULT and remedies
	8.1 Default Events. A Party is in default under this Agreement if any of the following occurs (each an “Event of Default”):

	Article 8  – DEFAULT and remedies
	8.1 Default Events. A Party is in default under this Agreement if any of the following occurs (each an “Event of Default”):
	(a) A Party becomes insolvent, liquidates, is adjudicated as bankrupt, makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, invokes any provision of law for the relief of debtors or initiates any proceeding seeking protection from its creditors; or
	(b) A Party violates any legal requirement relating to the provision or receipt of Service, and the violation is not remedied within thirty (30) days of receipt of written notice of the violation;
	(c) Except as may otherwise be provided in an Exhibit, a Party fails to perform a material obligation under this Agreement (other than the payment of money), and the failure is not remedied within thirty (30) days of receipt of written notice of the f...
	(d) Customer fails to pay any amounts due hereunder, and the failure is not remedied within ten (10) days of written notice of the failure; provided, however, Intermax shall not be required to provide such notice more than two times in any twelve-mont...

	8.2 Default Remedies.  Upon any Event of Default hereunder, the non-defaulting Party shall have the following remedies, to be exercised at its option, in addition to other remedies at law or in equity:
	(a) Termination for Non-Monetary Breach.  In addition to remedies available at law or in equity, the non-defaulting Party may terminate this Agreement (including its Exhibits and Schedules, both implemented and pending), in whole or in part, for any E...
	(b) Termination for Failure to Pay.  Upon any Event of Default arising from the failure to pay any sums due hereunder, Intermax shall have those remedies set forth in Section 4.7 hereof.
	(c) Early Termination Charges. A payment default or other default by Customer resulting in termination of this Agreement or any Service will entitle Intermax to collect from Customer applicable early termination charges, in addition to pursuing other ...


	Article 9  - CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION, CPNI, AND REGULATORY POLICIES
	9.1 Confidential Information. Each Party must protect the other’s confidential information with the same degree of care used to protect its own confidential information, but in no event may less than a reasonable standard of care be used by either Par...
	9.2 CPNI. Customer Proprietary Network Information (“CPNI”) is Customer information acquired by Intermax from provisioning regulated telecommunications services to Customer. CPNI includes, among other things, Service identities, quantities and locatio...
	9.3 REGULATORY POLICIES.  Intermax keeps current copies of regulatory policies for review and download at: www.intermaxnetworks.com.  Such current policies include: Privacy Policy; DMCA Policy; Acceptable Use Policy; and Website Terms and Condition ar...

	Article 10  - INDEMNIFICATION
	10.1 Intermax’s Indemnification of Customer. Intermax will defend and indemnify Customer, its employees, directors, officers, and agents, from and against any suit, proceeding, or other claim brought by any person or entity (not a party to or an Affil...

	Article 10  - INDEMNIFICATION
	10.2 Customer’s Indemnification of Intermax. Customer will defend and indemnify Intermax, its employees, directors, officers and agents, from and against any suit, proceeding, or other claim brought by any person or entity (not a party to or an Affili...
	10.3 Intellectual Property. If Service, by itself as provided by Intermax, becomes, or if Intermax reasonably believes it may become, the subject of a suit, proceeding or other claim by any person or entity (not a party to or an Affiliate of a party t...
	10.4 Procedure. If a claim is made against Intermax or Customer, the Party in receipt of the claim (“Indemnified Party”) will notify the other Party (“Indemnifying Party”) in writing no later than sixty (60) days after learning of a potential claim. T...
	10.5 Limitation. Sections 10.1 and 10.3 set forth the entire liability of Intermax, and Customer’s sole and exclusive remedies, with respect to any claim subject to indemnification under this Agreement.
	10.6 Survival. These indemnification obligations will survive this Agreement.

	Article 11  - LIMITATION OF LIABILITY
	11.1 Consequential Damages. Neither Party is liable to the other for any indirect, consequential, special, incidental, reliance, or punitive damages of any kind or nature whatsoever including, without limitation, any lost profits, lost revenues, lost ...
	11.2 Service Credits and Liability Limits. Customer’s sole remedy for any failure of Service is the right to receive Service Outage credits due under the Agreement. INTERMAX’S ENTIRE LIABILITY, AND CUSTOMER’S SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY FOR CLAIMS ARISI...

	Article 12  - FORCE MAJEURE
	Article 13  - DISPUTE RESOLUTION
	13.1 Applicable Law and Venue. This Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of Idaho without regard to choice of law principles. Any action arising out of or relating to this Agreement must be brought exclusively in state courts located in...
	13.2 Litigation Election. Either Party may elect to litigate the following type of case or controversy: (a) an action seeking equitable relief; (b) a suit to compel compliance with this dispute resolution process; or (c) non-compliance with a Party’s ...
	13.3 Mediation. The Parties may elect to engage in non-binding mediation as a first alternative to litigation. Such an election must be mutual and reflected in a writing signed by both Parties. Each Party will bear its own costs in mediation and all t...

	Article 14  - ASSIGNMENT
	14.1 Assignability. Upon at least sixty (60) days written notice, either Party may assign this Agreement to an Affiliate without the prior written consent of the other Party. In connection with any assignment by Customer to an Affiliate, or a merger, ...
	14.2 Prior Agreement. If this Agreement is assigned to an entity that, prior to the assignment, had an agreement with Intermax, the service being provided will continue to be governed by that prior agreement, and the Service provided under this Agreem...

	Article 15  - NOTICES
	15.1 Bill Disputes. Customer must submit a dispute of any invoiced charge(s) electronically to: billing@intermaxteam.com and corporate@intermaxteam.com or such other address as Intermax may specify from time to time.
	15.2 Service Discontinuation. Customer must submit a request to discontinue a Service to billing@intermaxteam.com or such other address as Intermax may specify from time to time.  A request to discontinue Service will be effective no sooner than thirt...
	15.3 Other Matters. All other notices under this Agreement, including any notice pertaining to termination of this Agreement, must be in writing and delivered by overnight courier (e.g., Federal Express, DHL) or certified mail, return receipt requeste...

	Article 16  - MISCELLANEOUS
	16.1 Interpretation. This Agreement may not be construed or interpreted against either Customer or Intermax because that Party drafted, or caused its legal representative to draft, any of its provisions.
	16.2 Order of Precedence. If there is an express inconsistency between a term in this Agreement, by itself, and a term in any Exhibit A, Schedule, or other contract document (including any Non-disclosure Agreement), the order of precedence, from the m...
	(a) This Agreement;
	(b) The Exhibit A; and
	(c) The Schedule or other contract document (including any Non-disclosure Agreement).

	16.3 Intermax Facilities, Equipment and Software. Intermax facilities, including equipment and software, used to provide any Service will remain the exclusive property of Intermax or its assignee, and nothing contained in this Agreement can be interpr...
	16.4 Agency; Partnership; and Third Parties. Neither Party becomes the agent or legal representative of the other Party as a result of this Agreement (except where Customer signs a Letter of Authorization to port a phone number to execute on creating ...
	16.5 Waiver. No waiver of any provision in this Agreement will be binding unless in writing and signed by both Parties. The failure of a Party to insist on the strict enforcement of any provision of this Agreement will not constitute a waiver of the p...
	16.6 Subsequent Agreement; Signatures; and Communication Methods.
	(a) Subsequent Agreement. No subsequent agreement between the Parties concerning Service will take effect or be binding unless made in writing and signed by both Parties.
	(b) Signatures. Any requirement for a signature in any document relating to this Agreement may be satisfied by a facsimile transmission of an original signature or by delivery of electronic mail in PDF or similar scanned format, or by an electronic sy...


	Article 16  - MISCELLANEOUS
	16.6 Subsequent Agreement; Signatures; and Communication Methods.
	(c) Communication Methods. Neither electronic mail nor instant messaging (IM) will be a “writing” sufficient to modify the terms of the Agreement, although those methods of communication may be used otherwise in the performance of the Parties’ obligat...

	16.7 Entire Agreement. This Agreement sets forth the entire understanding of the Parties and supersedes any prior or contemporaneous agreements, arrangements, or understandings, both written and oral, with regard to Service. The Addenda, Exhibits, and...
	16.8 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is found to be invalid or unenforceable under applicable law, it will be ineffective only to the extent of its invalidity and will not affect the remaining provisions in this Agreement.
	16.9 Non-Exclusivity. This Agreement is non-exclusive. Either Party may enter into similar arrangements with others.  Intermax may, as part of its normal business undertakings, actively market its services in full and fair competition with Customer or...
	16.10 Survival. The terms of this Agreement which, by their usage and context, are intended to survive this Agreement including, without limitation, the obligation to make payments for Service, will survive its expiration or termination.
	16.11 Headings and Internal References.
	(a) Headings. The Article and Section headings in this Agreement, including all its incorporated documents, are for convenience only and may not be considered in interpreting the provisions in which they appear.
	(b) Internal References. Any plainly erroneous references or citations to Articles and Sections in this Agreement, including all its incorporated documents, will allow either Party to demonstrate to the reasonable satisfaction of the other Party the i...

	16.12 Authority. Each Party represents to the other that this Agreement has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by and on behalf of such Party and constitutes the valid, binding, and enforceable agreement.



